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Robert Sullwold

Cal Lab Code § 1102.5

Deering's California Codes are current through Chapter 3 of the 2018 Regular Session.

Deering’s California Codes Annotated  >  LABOR CODE  >  Division 2 Employment Regulation 
and Supervision  >  Part 3 Privileges and Immunities  >  Chapter 5 Political Affiliations

§ 1102.5. Employee’s right to disclose information to government or law 
enforcement agency; Employer prohibited from retaliation; Civil penalty; 
Confidential communications

(a) An employer, or any person acting on behalf of the employer, shall not make, adopt, or enforce any rule, 
regulation, or policy preventing an employee from disclosing information to a government or law 
enforcement agency, to a person with authority over the employee, or to another employee who has 
authority to investigate, discover, or correct the violation or noncompliance, or from providing information 
to, or testifying before, any public body conducting an investigation, hearing, or inquiry, if the employee has 
reasonable cause to believe that the information discloses a violation of state or federal statute, or a 
violation of or noncompliance with a local, state, or federal rule or regulation, regardless of whether 
disclosing the information is part of the employee’s job duties.

(b) An employer, or any person acting on behalf of the employer, shall not retaliate against an employee for 
disclosing information, or because the employer believes that the employee disclosed or may disclose 
information, to a government or law enforcement agency, to a person with authority over the employee or 
another employee who has the authority to investigate, discover, or correct the violation or noncompliance, 
or for providing information to, or testifying before, any public body conducting an investigation, hearing, or 
inquiry, if the employee has reasonable cause to believe that the information discloses a violation of state 
or federal statute, or a violation of or noncompliance with a local, state, or federal rule or regulation, 
regardless of whether disclosing the information is part of the employee’s job duties.

(c) An employer, or any person acting on behalf of the employer, shall not retaliate against an employee for 
refusing to participate in an activity that would result in a violation of state or federal statute, or a violation 
of or noncompliance with a local, state, or federal rule or regulation.

(d) An employer, or any person acting on behalf of the employer, shall not retaliate against an employee for 
having exercised his or her rights under subdivision (a), (b), or (c) in any former employment.

(e) A report made by an employee of a government agency to his or her employer is a disclosure of information 
to a government or law enforcement agency pursuant to subdivisions (a) and (b).

(f) In addition to other penalties, an employer that is a corporation or limited liability company is liable for a civil 
penalty not exceeding ten thousand dollars ($10,000) for each violation of this section.

(g) This section does not apply to rules, regulations, or policies that implement, or to actions by employers 
against employees who violate, the confidentiality of the lawyer-client privilege of Article 3 (commencing 
with Section 950) of, or the physician-patient privilege of Article 6 (commencing with Section 990) of, 
Chapter 4 of Division 8 of the Evidence Code, or trade secret information.

(h) An employer, or a person acting on behalf of the employer, shall not retaliate against an employee because 
the employee is a family member of a person who has, or is perceived to have, engaged in any acts 
protected by this section.

(i) For purposes of this section, “employer” or “a person acting on behalf of the employer” includes, but is not 
limited to, a client employer as defined in paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) of Section 2810.3 and an 
employer listed in subdivision (b) of Section 6400.
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History

Added Stats 1984 ch 1083 § 1. Amended Stats 2003 ch 484 § 2 (SB 777); Stats 2013 ch 577 § 5 (SB 666), 
effective January 1, 2014; Stats 2013 ch 732 § 6 (AB 263), effective January 1, 2014, ch 781 § 4.1 (SB 496), 
effective January 1, 2014; Stats 2015 ch 792 § 2 (AB 1509), effective January 1, 2016.

Annotations

Notes

Amendments:

Note—

Amendments:

2003 Amendment:

(1) Substituted “An employer may not” for “No employer shall” at the beginning of subds (a) and (b); (2) added “a” 
after “federal statute, or” in subds (a) and (b); (3) added “rule or” at the end of subds (a) and (b); (4) added subds 
(c)–(f); (5) redesignated former subd (c) to subd (g); and (6) substituted “does” for “shall” after “This section” at the 
beginning of subd (g).

2013 Amendment:

(1) Substituted subds (a) and (b) for former subds (a) and (b) which read: “(a) An employer may not make, adopt, or 
enforce any rule, regulation, or policy preventing an employee from disclosing information to a government or law 
enforcement agency, where the employee has reasonable cause to believe that the information discloses a 
violation of state or federal statute, or a violation or noncompliance with a state or federal rule or regulation. (b) An 
employer may not retaliate against an employee for disclosing information to a government or law enforcement 
agency, where the employee has reasonable cause to believe that the information discloses a violation of state or 
federal statute, or a violation or noncompliance with a state or federal rule or regulation.”; (2) substituted “, or any 
person acting on behalf of the employer, shall” for “may” in subds (c) and (d); (3) amended subd (c) by (a) adding 
“of” after “or a violation”; and (b) substituting “local, state,” for “state”; and (4) amended subd (g) by (a) substituting 
“that implement” for “which implement”; (b) substituting “of, or the” for “, the” after “Section 950)”; and (c) adding the 
comma after “Section 990) of”. (As amended Stats 2013 ch 781, compared to the section as it read prior to 2013. 
This section was also amended by two earlier chapters, chs 577 and 732. See Gov C § 9605.) 

2015 Amendment:

Added subds (h) and (i).

Note—

Stats 2003 ch 484 provides:

SECTION 1. The Legislature finds and declares that unlawful activities of private corporations may result in 
damages not only to the corporation and its shareholders and investors, but also to employees of the 
corporation and the public at large. The damages caused by unlawful activities may be prevented by the 
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early detection of corporate wrongdoing. The employees of a corporation are in a unique position to report 
corporate wrongdoing to an appropriate government or law enforcement agency.

The Legislature finds and declares that it is the public policy of the State of California to encourage 
employees to notify an appropriate government or law enforcement agency when they have reason to 
believe their employer is violating laws enacted for the protection of corporate shareholders, investors, 
employees, and the general public.

It is the intent of the Legislature to protect employees who refuse to act at the direction of their employer or 
refuse to participate in activities of an employer that would result in a violation of law.

Notes to Decisions

1.Generally

2.Applicability

3.Administrative Remedies

4.Governmental Immunity

5.Retroactivity

6.Construction

7.Construction with Other Law

8.Exhaustion of Administrative Remedies

9.Arbitration

10.Non-Discriminatory Reason

11.Federal Preemption

12.Pleading

13.Causal Link

14.Particular Determinations

1. Generally

Public policy forbids any retaliatory action taken by an employer against an employee who discloses information 
regarding the employer’s violation of law to a government agency, and this policy is codified in Lab. Code, § 
1102.5, subd. (b). Garcia v. Rockwell Internat. Corp. (Cal. App. 4th Dist. Dec. 18, 1986), 187 Cal. App. 3d 1556, 
232 Cal. Rptr. 490, 1986 Cal. App. LEXIS 2361.

Lab. Code, § 1102.5, subd. (b), which prohibits employer retaliation against an employee who reports a reasonably 
suspected violation of the law to a government or law enforcement agency, reflects the broad public policy interest 
in encouraging workplace “whistle-blowers,” who may without fear of retaliation report concerns regarding an 
employer’s illegal conduct. This public policy is the modern day equivalent of the long-established duty of the 
citizenry to bring to public attention the doings of a law breaker. Collier v. Superior Court (Cal. App. 2d Dist. Mar. 
26, 1991), 228 Cal. App. 3d 1117, 279 Cal. Rptr. 453, 1991 Cal. App. LEXIS 293.
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In 1984, the Legislature provided “whistleblower” protection in Lab C § 1102.5, subd. (b), stating that an employer 
may not retaliate against an employee for disclosing a violation of state or federal regulation to a governmental or 
law enforcement agency. This provision reflects the broad public policy interest in encouraging workplace whistle-
blowers to report unlawful acts without fearing retaliation. Lab C § 1102.5, subd. (b), concerns employees who 
report to public agencies. It does not protect an employee who reports his suspicions directly to his employer. The 
state’s whistle-blower statute includes administrative regulations as a policy source for reporting an employer’s 
wrongful acts and grants employees protection against retaliatory termination. Thus, the Legislature believes that 
fundamental public policies embodied in regulations are sufficiently important to justify encouraging employees to 
challenge employers who ignore those policies. Green v. Ralee Engineering Co. (Cal. Aug. 31, 1998), 19 Cal. 4th 
66, 78 Cal. Rptr. 2d 16, 960 P.2d 1046, 1998 Cal. LEXIS 5590.

As overwhelming evidence established that Medicare hearing officer was an independent contractor and not an 
employee of defendant Medicare carrier, as a matter of law, and because the protections of the California 
Whistleblower Statute, Lab Code § 1102.5, are reserved for employees, the hearing officer could not bring a claim 
against the carrier under Lab Code § 1102.5. United States ex rel. Watson v. Conn. Gen. Life Ins. Co. (E.D. Pa. 
Feb. 11, 2003), 2003 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 2054, aff'd,  (3d Cir. Pa. Jan. 16, 2004), 87 Fed. Appx. 257, 2004 U.S. App. 
LEXIS 1736.

District court exercised supplemental jurisdiction over a former temporary employee’s claim that he was terminated 
in retaliation for refusing to participate in unlawful activity in violation of Lab C §§ 98.6 and 1102.5(c), where 
remanding to the state court would have been futile given that he not alleged any facts demonstrating that he 
refused to take part in unlawful activity, nor had he argued that he was terminated for refusal to take part in unlawful 
activity. Turner v. City & County of San Francisco (N.D. Cal. Dec. 19, 2012), 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 179585, aff'd,  
(9th Cir. Cal. June 11, 2015), 788 F.3d 1206, 2015 U.S. App. LEXIS 9753, aff'd,  (9th Cir. Cal. June 11, 2015), 617 
Fed. Appx. 674, 2015 U.S. App. LEXIS 9788.

Lab C § 1102.5(b) protects employee reports of unlawful activity by third parties such as contractors and 
employees, as well unlawful activity by an employer. McVeigh v. Recology San Francisco (Cal. App. 1st Dist. Jan. 
31, 2013), 213 Cal. App. 4th 443, 152 Cal. Rptr. 3d 595, 2013 Cal. App. LEXIS 75.

Policy of encouraging employees to notify an appropriate government agency when they have reason to believe 
their employer is violating regulations precludes retaliation by an employer not only against employees who actually 
notify the agency of the suspected violations but also against employees whom the employer suspects of such 
notifications. Diego v. Pilgrim United Church of Christ (Cal. App. 4th Dist. Nov. 21, 2014), 231 Cal. App. 4th 913, 
180 Cal. Rptr. 3d 359, 2014 Cal. App. LEXIS 1058.

2. Applicability

Traffic citations from highway patrol to children of highway patrol commissioner did not constitute a disclosure of a 
violation of the law, under the whistleblower statute. Stiesberg v. California (9th Cir. Cal. Mar. 29, 1996), 80 F.3d 
353, 1996 U.S. App. LEXIS 5795.

A housing authority employee stated a claim for retaliation under the whistleblower statute (Lab C § 1102.5), even 
though she reported her suspected violation of law to her employer rather than to a separate government agency or 
a law enforcement agency, since § 1102.5 clearly covered employees who reported their concerns to public 
agencies and here the plaintiff reported directly to the commissioners of a public agency which happened to also be 
her employer. To require such an employee to go to a different public agency or directly to a law enforcement 
agency before he or she can be assured of protection from retaliation would be encouraging public employees who 
suspected wrongdoing to do nothing at all. Gardenhire v. Housing Auth. (Cal. App. 2d Dist. Dec. 5, 2000), 85 Cal. 
App. 4th 236, 101 Cal. Rptr. 2d 893, 2000 Cal. App. LEXIS 923.

Although an attorney had standing to sue under the Fair Employment and Housing Act even if he was an 
independent contractor pursuant to Gov C § 12940j(1), his complaint contained insufficient facts to show that he 
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was an employee covered by Lab C § 1102.5 or by Gov C § 12940(a). His allegations that he was an attorney 
whom the Board of Prison Terms (BPT) chose to place upon its attorney appointment list for assignment to 
represent indigent parolee clients did not suffice to show that he was an employee because, inter alia, (1) he was 
paid on an hourly basis; (2) he enjoyed an outside law practice unregulated by the BPT; and (3) he did not allege 
that BPT exercised any control over the content of the attorney’s representation to parolee clients or that the BPT 
provided him with such accouterments of employment as office space, clerical help, or benefits. Jacobson v. 
Schwarzenegger (C.D. Cal. Nov. 30, 2004), 357 F. Supp. 2d 1198, 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 27470.

Corrections officer’s employment retaliation action based on Lab C § 1102.5 and Gov C § 8547.8 against the 
Office of the Inspector General (OIG), a prison, and prison officials was foreclosed because although his 
whistleblowing regarding the misbehavior of his supervisors was privileged under CC § 47(b), his apparent criminal 
threats of violence against them were not, and the OIG’s report of those threats to the prison was privileged as well 
under § 47(b) because the OIG’s statements were intended to instigate official investigation and action into 
suspected criminal wrongdoing on the officer’s part. Furthermore, the OIG’s disclosure to the prison of the officer’s 
threat-like statements was proper under the version of Pen C § 6128 in effect at the time. Brown v. Department of 
Corrections (Cal. App. 3d Dist. Aug. 31, 2005), 132 Cal. App. 4th 520, 33 Cal. Rptr. 3d 754, 2005 Cal. App. LEXIS 
1389.

Employer was entitled to summary judgment on the employee’s retaliation claim under Lab C § 1102.5(b) because 
the employee’s disclosure of safety concerns did not meet the standard for protected activity under Lab C § 
1102.5(b) since the disclosed safety concerns did not violate any federal or state statute, rule, or regulation. Love v. 
Motion Indus. (N.D. Cal. Mar. 8, 2004), 309 F. Supp. 2d 1128, 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 4016.

Employer’s motion to dismiss pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) was granted because the employee’s claim of 
wrongful termination in violation of public policy failed. The employee’s report of a suspected theft to the police was 
a theft of her own property, therefore no public interest existed, and the employee did not assert any constitutional 
or statutory provision to support her claim of a right to report a crime; in fact, the employee specifically removed a 
claim under Lab C § 1102.5 in her amended complaint. Harber v. Am. Airlines (N.D. Cal. Oct. 7, 2004), 2004 U.S. 
Dist. LEXIS 21396.

“Materiality” standard of “adverse employment action” that the California Supreme Court has defined and applied to 
an employment retaliation lawsuit under the California Fair Employment and Housing Act (FEHA) also applies to an 
employment retaliation lawsuit under Lab C § 1102.5(b). Patten v. Grant Joint Union High School Dist. (Cal. App. 
3d Dist. Dec. 19, 2005), 134 Cal. App. 4th 1378, 37 Cal. Rptr. 3d 113, 2005 Cal. App. LEXIS 1933.

Under a materiality test for “adverse employment action,” a principal’s transfer to a different school could be 
adverse under Lab C § 1102.5(b), even though the wages, benefits, and duties were the same, because there was 
evidence that her material responsibilities were significantly diminished. Her original assignment was at an 
underperforming school of about 1,000 students that required immediate intervention, while the new assignment 
was to a magnet school for high-achieving students, with 240 students and a high level of parental support. Patten 
v. Grant Joint Union High School Dist. (Cal. App. 3d Dist. Dec. 19, 2005), 134 Cal. App. 4th 1378, 37 Cal. Rptr. 3d 
113, 2005 Cal. App. LEXIS 1933.

Inclusion of a nondisparagement provision in a release prepared by an employer at the end of an employee’s 
tenure did not violate Lab C § 1102.5 because the release did not constitute a rule or policy governing the 
employee’s conduct as an employee. Edwards v. Arthur Andersen LLP (Cal. App. 2d Dist. Aug. 30, 2006), 142 Cal. 
App. 4th 603, 47 Cal. Rptr. 3d 788, 2006 Cal. App. LEXIS 1320, modified,  (Cal. App. 2d Dist. Sept. 26, 2006), 2006 
Cal. App. LEXIS 1488, review granted, depublished,  (Cal. Nov. 29, 2006), 52 Cal. Rptr. 3d 86, 147 P.3d 1013, 
2006 Cal. LEXIS 14181, aff'd in part and rev'd in part, superseded,  (Cal. Aug. 7, 2008), 44 Cal. 4th 937, 81 Cal. 
Rptr. 3d 282, 189 P.3d 285, 2008 Cal. LEXIS 9618.

Where a former employee was unable to show that her former employers’ filing of an underlying action violated Lab 
C § 1102.5 because there was an absence of an employer-employee relationship at the time the allegedly 
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retaliatory action was taken, she was also unable to show a violation of 29 U.S.C.S. § 1140 based on her status as 
an employee. Moreover, the employee did not contend, much less demonstrate, that she could assert a violation of 
the federal statute as a beneficiary of the employers’ pension plan, and there as well she failed to show that the 
employers’ filing and maintenance of the underlying action violated the federal statute as to her, much less that their 
conduct was illegal as a matter of law for purposes of the federal statute. Soukup v. Law Offices of Herbert Hafif 
(Cal. July 27, 2006), 39 Cal. 4th 260, 46 Cal. Rptr. 3d 638, 139 P.3d 30, 2006 Cal. LEXIS 9073.

Teacher’s disclosure to a high school’s athletic director that the football coach had recommended a nutritional 
supplement to a student was not whistleblowing under Lab C § 1102.5 but rather was a routine internal personnel 
disclosure. This type of disclosure was not encompassed by § 1102.5 and consequently could not support a 
wrongful termination claim by the teacher. Carter v. Escondido Union High School Dist. (Cal. App. 4th Dist. Mar. 21, 
2007), 148 Cal. App. 4th 922, 56 Cal. Rptr. 3d 262, 2007 Cal. App. LEXIS 401.

In a retaliation claim under the whistleblower statute, Lab C § 1102.5, the evidence supported a finding that an 
employee of a county’s office of aging reasonably believed that a reporting change required state approval because 
there was evidence that the belief was based on a former supervisor’s opinion; evidence that the employee’s 
supervisors also believed the change was illegal included their instruction not to inform state officials of the new 
reporting requirements. Mokler v. County of Orange (Cal. App. 4th Dist. Nov. 26, 2007), 157 Cal. App. 4th 121, 68 
Cal. Rptr. 3d 568, 2007 Cal. App. LEXIS 1933.

In a retaliation claim under the whistleblower statute, Lab C § 1102.5, sufficient evidence that an employer’s 
reasons for terminating an employee were a pretext included that the employee had never been reprimanded or 
received a negative performance review before complaining. The same attribute that earned high praise from a 
supervisor just weeks before the employee’s protected activity became a partial basis for termination. Mokler v. 
County of Orange (Cal. App. 4th Dist. Nov. 26, 2007), 157 Cal. App. 4th 121, 68 Cal. Rptr. 3d 568, 2007 Cal. App. 
LEXIS 1933.

University employee was not entitled to injunction barring the Regents of the University of California from requiring 
that administrative complaints of whistleblower retaliation be presented on a form that the employee contended 
violated constitutional free speech rights under U.S. Const. Amend. I, U.S. Const. Amend. XIV, and Cal Const Art I 
§ 2(a) where the form was optional and not mandatory; there was no merit to employee’s claim that the form’s 
confidentiality requirement was itself an act of whistleblower retaliation, violative of Lab C § 1102.5, because the 
form was intended to remediate whistleblower retaliation, and its limited (and optional) requirement of applicant 
confidentiality did not constitute an adverse employment action. Jones v. Regents of University of California (Cal. 
App. 2d Dist. July 14, 2008), 164 Cal. App. 4th 1072, 79 Cal. Rptr. 3d 817, 2008 Cal. App. LEXIS 1045, cert. 
denied,  (U.S. Apr. 20, 2009), 556 U.S. 1184, 129 S. Ct. 2021, 173 L. Ed. 2d 1088, 2009 U.S. LEXIS 2964.

Amtrak, as employer, was entitled to summary judgment in former Amtrak employee’s action alleging wrongful 
discharge in violation of public policy based on an alleged violation of Lab C § 1102.5(b); employee failed to show 
that he was terminated in retaliation for filing a charge of race discrimination with the California Department of Fair 
Employment and Housing and with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission. Campbell v. AMTRAK (N.D. 
Cal. Apr. 3, 2008), 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 27437.

Retired government employee alleged that alleged retaliation against him took place after he retired. Because an 
employer-employee relationship no longer existed, the retired employee could not state a cause of action under 
Lab. Code, § 1102.5. Hansen v. Department of Corrections & Rehabilitation (Cal. App. 5th Dist. Dec. 12, 2008), 
171 Cal. App. 4th 1537, 90 Cal. Rptr. 3d 381, 2008 Cal. App. LEXIS 2538.

County employee’s whistleblower claim lacked merit because his objections to two supervisors’ transfers did not 
involve violations of law and because his subsequent reprimands and transfers were internal personnel matters that 
did not rise to the level of whistleblowing retaliation. Mueller v. County of Los Angeles (Cal. App. 2d Dist. Aug. 13, 
2009), 176 Cal. App. 4th 809, 98 Cal. Rptr. 3d 281, 2009 Cal. App. LEXIS 1335.

https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:4YF7-GMP1-NRF4-41JC-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:4KH5-WCV0-0039-40KS-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:4KH5-WCV0-0039-40KS-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:5J6R-GYM1-66B9-84B1-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:5J6R-GYM1-66B9-84B1-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:5J6R-GYM1-66B9-84B1-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:5JBS-0RV1-DXC8-21FW-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:5JBS-0RV1-DXC8-21FW-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:5J6R-GYM1-66B9-84B1-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:5J6R-GYM1-66B9-84B1-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:4S7B-97S0-TXFP-C1SF-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:4S7B-97S0-TXFP-C1SF-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:5J6R-GYM1-66B9-84B1-00000-00&context=


Page 7 of 20

Cal Lab Code § 1102.5

Robert Sullwold

At-will employee under Lab C § 2922 failed to state a claim of wrongful termination in violation of public policy 
under Lab C §§ 6310 and 1102.5(b) because the employee did not allege that the federal railroad employer was 
violating a statute or regulation; rather, the employee’s e-mail was concerned with efficiency, monetary waste, and 
disruption of employees’ families, and thus did not establish a violation of public policy. Schulthies v. AMTRAK 
(N.D. Cal. Aug. 17, 2009), 650 F. Supp. 2d 994, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 72423.

Employee’s retaliation claims failed to state a cause of action for violations of Lab C §§ 98.6, 232.5, or 1102.5 
because there were no allegations that the employee made a complaint regarding her rights, any alleged retaliation 
occurred after her resignation, and there were no policies or conditions of employment that the employee should 
refrain from disclosing information about working conditions or violations of federal or state law. Fenters v. Chevron 
(E.D. Cal. Dec. 14, 2009), 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 115903.

Junior college district was entitled to dismissal of a complaint filed by a former adjunct faculty member who alleged 
retaliation in response to her complaint to the dean about the disruptive and potentially violent behavior of students 
in her classroom; the complaint did not sufficiently allege a violation of Lab C § 1102.5 because the complaints did 
not occur in a whistleblowing context. Fusco v. Sonoma County Junior College Dist. (N.D. Cal. Jan. 29, 2010), 2010 
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 7363.

Employee’s wrongful termination claim against a city based on a violation of public policy failed on summary 
judgment because such common law claims could not be asserted against the city, and the employee could not 
change the nature of the claim by asserting that it was brought under 42 U.S.C.S. § 1981 and Lab C § 1102.5. 
Ortiz v. Lopez (E.D. Cal. Feb. 1, 2010), 688 F. Supp. 2d 1072, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 7800.

Employer was entitled to summary judgment on a truck driver’s claim of retaliation under Lab C § 1102.5(c); the 
truck driver presented no evidence that he refused to participate in an activity that would result in a violation of state 
or federal statute, or a violation or noncompliance with a state or federal rule or regulation. Mayo v. Recycle to 
Conserve, Inc. (E.D. Cal. June 10, 2011), 795 F. Supp. 2d 1031, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 62854.

Assistant sheriff’s conversation with the sheriff, complaining that he believed certain acts committed by the sheriff 
were illegal, was protected whistleblowing activity under Lab C § 1102.5(b), although he did not discuss his 
complaints with anyone else. Jaramillo v. County of Orange (Cal. App. 4th Dist. Nov. 8, 2011), 200 Cal. App. 4th 
811, 133 Cal. Rptr. 3d 751, 2011 Cal. App. LEXIS 1397.

Defense judgment in a whistleblower case had to be reversed because of instructional errors regarding disclosures 
under Lab C § 1102.5(b), and Ed C § 87162(e); the employee should not have been required to show that she 
made the disclosures in good faith and not for personal reasons, a debatable policy matters instruction was too 
broad because it lacked an explanation that it did not apply where the employee reasonably believed the policy 
violated a statute or regulation, and disclosure in the normal course of duties was not necessarily unprotected. The 
trial court did not err in instructing the jury that reporting publicly known facts and discussing potential violations 
were not protected disclosures. Mize-Kurzman v. Marin Community College Dist. (Cal. App. 1st Dist. Jan. 10, 
2012), 202 Cal. App. 4th 832, 136 Cal. Rptr. 3d 259, 2012 Cal. App. LEXIS 14.

Former employee’s wrongful termination action based on a violation of Lab C § 1102.5 survived summary 
judgment because: (1) the employee produced evidence showing that when she made her transfer request her 
supervisor was aware that the employee had concerns regarding whether the study was being conducted in 
accordance with applicable laws and regulations; (2) the employee was transferred to a dysfunctional team, was 
assigned an abnormally high workload, and was eventually terminated; and (3) there was evidence that the 
employer’s reasons for terminating the employee were mere pretext, as a human resources expert testified that the 
employer failed to follow generally accepted human resources practices and its own policies and procedures in 
connection with the employee’s termination. Ferretti v. Pfizer Inc. (N.D. Cal. Jan. 10, 2013), 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 
4730.

Trial court did not err in dismissing whistleblower claims asserted under Lab C § 1102.5(c) by a city employee who 
alleged that she had been wrongfully terminated in retaliation for her refusal of expense reimbursement requests. 
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There was no protected activity because the reimbursements did not violate Gov C §§ 87100, 87103, and the 
employee’s actions fell within her general job duties and involved only perceived violations of local laws. Edgerly v. 
City of Oakland (Cal. App. 1st Dist. Dec. 12, 2012), 211 Cal. App. 4th 1191, 150 Cal. Rptr. 3d 425, 2012 Cal. App. 
LEXIS 1258, modified,  (Cal. App. 1st Dist. Dec. 13, 2012), 2012 Cal. App. LEXIS 1268.

By its plain language and its public policy considerations, Lab C § 1102.5(c) applies to state law but not to 
municipal law. Applying the whistleblower statute to a charter city’s enforcement of its own laws would be 
inconsistent with the home rule doctrine as expressed in Cal Const Art XI § 5(a). Edgerly v. City of Oakland (Cal. 
App. 1st Dist. Dec. 12, 2012), 211 Cal. App. 4th 1191, 150 Cal. Rptr. 3d 425, 2012 Cal. App. LEXIS 1258, modified,  
(Cal. App. 1st Dist. Dec. 13, 2012), 2012 Cal. App. LEXIS 1268.

Alleged whistleblowing activities falling within an employee’s general duties are not actionable under Lab C § 
1102.5(c). Edgerly v. City of Oakland (Cal. App. 1st Dist. Dec. 12, 2012), 211 Cal. App. 4th 1191, 150 Cal. Rptr. 3d 
425, 2012 Cal. App. LEXIS 1258, modified,  (Cal. App. 1st Dist. Dec. 13, 2012), 2012 Cal. App. LEXIS 1268.

                                    

Plaintiff's allegations that she engaged in protected activity, that she was subjected to adverse employment action 
and that those events were causally linked sufficiently plead Tameny claim based on California's whistleblower 
statute, and claim was not duplicative of plaintiff's standalone whistleblower claim.Evenfe v. Esalen Inst. (N.D. Cal. 
July 24, 2016), 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 96843.

                                 

3. Administrative Remedies

Employee, who had alleged that she was wrongfully terminated by the university after engaging in whistle blower 
activities, failed to follow the university’s established grievance procedures before she filed her suit; the trial court 
properly granted the university’s motion for summary judgment as the employee failed to exhaust administrative 
remedies. Palmer v. Regents of the University of California (Cal. App. 2d Dist. Apr. 8, 2003), 107 Cal. App. 4th 899, 
132 Cal. Rptr. 2d 567, 2003 Cal. App. LEXIS 505.

County was estopped from asserting that a probationary employee had to exhaust administrative remedies before 
she brought a wrongful termination claim based on the fact that she reported what she believed to be illegal actions 
by medical employees. The retaliation claim was cognizable by the commission because it was a complaint of 
discrimination in a personnel matter based on non-job-related factors; however, finding the right to an administrative 
remedy required a creative interpretation of the rules, and the civil service commission had discouraged her from 
pursuing an administrative remedy. Shuer v. County of San Diego (Cal. App. 4th Dist. Apr. 2, 2004), 117 Cal. App. 
4th 476, 11 Cal. Rptr. 3d 776, 2004 Cal. App. LEXIS 439.

Failure to exhaust administrative remedies precluded an architect formerly employed by a state university from 
pursuing a whistleblower complaint under Gov C § 12653(c) and Lab C § 1102.5; neither of the whistleblower 
statutes contained any provision abrogating the exhaustion requirement, an administrative remedy was available, 
and the broad powers of the Regents of the University of California under Cal Const Art IX, § 9 included the 
authority to create a policy for handling whistleblower claims. Campbell v. Regents of University of California (Cal. 
Mar. 7, 2005), 35 Cal. 4th 311, 25 Cal. Rptr. 3d 320, 106 P.3d 976, 2005 Cal. LEXIS 2487, cert. denied,  (U.S. Oct. 
11, 2005), 546 U.S. 938, 126 S. Ct. 428, 163 L. Ed. 2d 326, 2005 U.S. LEXIS 7360.

Claimant did not allege that he exhausted available administrative remedies, including bringing a complaint before 
the California Labor Commissioner before bringing suit. Thus, the motion to dismiss his claim under Lab C § 
1102.5, one of the whistleblower statutes, was dismissed on the grounds that there was no jurisdiction. Neveau v. 
City of Fresno (E.D. Cal. July 15, 2005), 392 F. Supp. 2d 1159, 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 37400.
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Employer’s motion to dismiss the employee’s allegations under Lab C § 1102.5 was granted because the employee 
failed to allege that he was engaged in a protected activity prior to his termination; however, the employee was 
granted leave to amend as it appeared that he might be able to allege that he produced documents to the Securities 
and Exchange Commission prior to his termination. Romaneck v. Deutsche Asset Mgmt. (N.D. Cal. Sept. 6, 2005), 
2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 33712.

Fact that the California State Personnel Board (SPB) has discretion whether to grant a further hearing does not give 
a claimant the right to abort the administrative remedies and proceed to court. The statutes and pertinent 
regulations governing whistleblower claims contemplate that a civil suit may be filed after the SPB finds in favor of 
the claimant or fails to issue findings, not where the SPB finds against the claimant and the claimant fails to set that 
finding aside. State Bd. of Chiropractic Examiners v. Superior Court (Cal. App. 3d Dist. Feb. 28, 2007), 148 Cal. 
App. 4th 142, 55 Cal. Rptr. 3d 374, 2007 Cal. App. LEXIS 276, modified,  (Cal. App. 3d Dist. Mar. 29, 2007), 2007 
Cal. App. LEXIS 466, review granted, depublished,  (Cal. June 27, 2007), 161 P.3d 1, 2007 Cal. LEXIS 6811, 
review granted, depublished,  (Cal. June 27, 2007), 61 Cal. Rptr. 3d 459, 2007 Cal. LEXIS 7214, rev'd, superseded,  
(Cal. Feb. 26, 2009), 45 Cal. 4th 963, 89 Cal. Rptr. 3d 576, 201 P.3d 457, 2009 Cal. LEXIS 1265.

In a state employee’s action against her state agency employer alleging retaliation, an adverse notice of findings 
from the California State Personnel Board (SPB) executive officer was deemed to be the final decision of the SPB 
when the employee failed to challenge it because, had the employee requested a hearing, the SPB would either 
have granted it, resulting in a new SPB decision which could be challenged by a writ of administrative mandamus, 
or the SPB would have denied it, and adopted the notice of findings as its own decision, which similarly could be 
challenged. The unchallenged notice of findings, deemed to be the SPB decision, was a quasi-judicial decision that 
no retaliation occurred: it barred the employee’s suit under principles of issue preclusion (collateral estoppel). State 
Bd. of Chiropractic Examiners v. Superior Court (Cal. App. 3d Dist. Feb. 28, 2007), 148 Cal. App. 4th 142, 55 Cal. 
Rptr. 3d 374, 2007 Cal. App. LEXIS 276, modified,  (Cal. App. 3d Dist. Mar. 29, 2007), 2007 Cal. App. LEXIS 466, 
review granted, depublished,  (Cal. June 27, 2007), 161 P.3d 1, 2007 Cal. LEXIS 6811, review granted, 
depublished,  (Cal. June 27, 2007), 61 Cal. Rptr. 3d 459, 2007 Cal. LEXIS 7214, rev'd, superseded,  (Cal. Feb. 26, 
2009), 45 Cal. 4th 963, 89 Cal. Rptr. 3d 576, 201 P.3d 457, 2009 Cal. LEXIS 1265.

Former employee’s claim under Lab C § 1102.5 was not precluded for failure to exhaust her administrative 
remedies because the presentation of the claims to the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission and the 
California Department of Fair Employment and Housing constituted such exhaustion. Paterson v. Cal. Dep't of Gen. 
Servs. (E.D. Cal. Mar. 8, 2007), 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 25957.

Plaintiff did not exhaust her administrative remedies on her claims that defendant county terminated her job to 
discriminate against her in violation of Lab. Code, §§ 1101, 1102, & 1102.5. Because plaintiff did not file a complaint 
with the Equal Employment Opportunity Office, her §§ 1101, 1102, & 1102.5 claims were barred.Terris v. County of 
Santa Barbara (Cal. App. 2d Dist. Feb. 16, 2018), 2018 Cal. App. LEXIS 128.

4. Governmental Immunity

Where an attorney sued only individual state employees in their individual capacities for violations of Lab C § 
1102.5, the employees’ argument that they were immune from liability under Gov C § 815(a) lacked merit because 
that provision applied only to “public entities.” Pursuant to Gov C § 820(a) public employees are liable for their torts 
except as otherwise provided by statute, and the employees did not argue that the individual employees were 
shielded from liability for violations of Lab C § 1120.5 by any other immunity statute. Jacobson v. Schwarzenegger 
(C.D. Cal. Nov. 30, 2004), 357 F. Supp. 2d 1198, 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 27470.

In an action in which a special education teacher alleged retaliation in violation of the Rehabilitation Act, 29 USCS § 
794, and in violation of Lab C § 1102.5, the school district was entitled to summary judgment on the pendent state 
law claim under § 1102.5 because maintenance of the pendent state law claim against the school district would 
transgress the Eleventh Amendment. Corrales v. Moreno Valley Unified Sch. Dist. (C.D. Cal. June 10, 2010), 2010 
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 57563.

https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:5J6R-GYM1-66B9-84B1-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:4HVF-5J10-TVSH-333K-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:4HVF-5J10-TVSH-333K-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:4NCD-RFB0-0039-43TV-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:4NCD-RFB0-0039-43TV-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:4NCD-RFB0-0039-43TV-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:5J6R-GYM1-66B9-84B1-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:4NFR-KV40-TVSH-31S7-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:4NFR-KV40-TVSH-31S7-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:5J6R-GYM1-66B9-849T-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:5J6R-GYM1-66B9-849W-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:5RNG-2NH1-F04B-N027-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:5RNG-2NH1-F04B-N027-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:5J6R-GYM1-66B9-84B1-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:5J6R-GYM1-66B9-84B1-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:5J6R-G5J1-66B9-816W-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:5J6R-G5J1-66B9-817Y-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:4FTP-PBJ0-TVSH-32CF-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:4FTP-PBJ0-TVSH-32CF-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:4YF7-GVJ1-NRF4-42X8-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:4YF7-GVJ1-NRF4-42X8-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:5J6R-GYM1-66B9-84B1-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:7YNX-4S01-652H-700X-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases&id=urn:contentItem:7YNX-4S01-652H-700X-00000-00&context=


Page 10 of 20

Cal Lab Code § 1102.5

Robert Sullwold

5. Retroactivity

Plaintiffs were not permitted to state a claim against a corporation under Lab C § 1102.5 (Supp.) because it would 
be impermissibly retroactive under California law to allow plaintiffs to do so. Harrah v. Toyota Logistic Servs., Inc. 
(C.D. Cal. Feb. 9, 2004), 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 28833.

6. Construction

Retaliation claim under this statute stands on its own and does not require proof of a violation of public policy. 
Cardenas v. M. Fanaian, D.D.S., Inc. (Cal. App. 5th Dist. Oct. 1, 2015), 240 Cal. App. 4th 1167, 194 Cal. Rptr. 3d 1, 
2015 Cal. App. LEXIS 872, review granted, depublished,  (Cal. Dec. 16, 2015), 195 Cal. Rptr. 3d 789, 362 P.3d 
431, 2015 Cal. LEXIS 10134.

Claim under this statute is not limited to protecting against employer retaliation for reporting violations of law arising 
out of the employer’s business activities. The plain and unambiguous language of the statute creates a cause of 
action for damages against an employer who retaliates against an employee for reporting to law enforcement a theft 
of her property at the workplace. Cardenas v. M. Fanaian, D.D.S., Inc. (Cal. App. 5th Dist. Oct. 1, 2015), 240 Cal. 
App. 4th 1167, 194 Cal. Rptr. 3d 1, 2015 Cal. App. LEXIS 872, review granted, depublished,  (Cal. Dec. 16, 2015), 
195 Cal. Rptr. 3d 789, 362 P.3d 431, 2015 Cal. LEXIS 10134.

7. Construction with Other Law

Plaintiffs were not permitted to state a claim against a corporation under Lab C § 1102.5 (Supp.) because plaintiffs’ 
allegations that they actually violated the Motor Carrier Act doomed the claim because § 1102.5 was only 
applicable where an employee refused to participate in some allegedly illegal activities. Harrah v. Toyota Logistic 
Servs., Inc. (C.D. Cal. Feb. 9, 2004), 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 28833.

In an action against a Japanese air carrier by United States citizen employees who alleged a violation of California’s 
whistleblower statute, Lab C § 1102.5(b), and wrongful discharge in violation of the public policy expressed in 49 
U.S.C.S. § 42121(a)(1), the district court erred by construing the Friendship, Commerce, and Navigation Treaty, 
art. VIII(1), U.S.-Japan, April 2, 1953, 4 U.S.T. 2063, to confer on Japanese employers blanket immunity from state 
employment laws. Ventress v. Japan Airlines (9th Cir. Haw. Apr. 24, 2007), 486 F.3d 1111, 2007 U.S. App. LEXIS 
9289.

Main purpose of the Friendship, Commerce, and Navigation Treaty, art. VIII(1), U.S.-Japan, April 2, 1953, 4 U.S.T. 
2063, is to guarantee the ability of each signatory’s companies the ability to staff critical managerial and technical 
positions overseas with their fellow citizens, and California’s whistleblower protection laws, including Lab C § 
1102.5(b), merely prevent an employer from retaliating against employees for reporting and resisting the employer’s 
domestic law violations; the laws in no way conflict with a Japanese employer’s limited treaty right to discriminate in 
favor of Japanese citizens. In the absence of conflict, there can be no preemption. Ventress v. Japan Airlines (9th 
Cir. Haw. Apr. 24, 2007), 486 F.3d 1111, 2007 U.S. App. LEXIS 9289.

Friendship, Commerce, and Navigation Treaty, art. VIII(1), U.S.-Japan, April 2, 1953, 4 U.S.T. 2063, which confers 
on Japanese employers only the limited right to discriminate in favor of their fellow citizens for certain managerial 
and technical positions, does not preempt California’s whistle blower protection laws, including Lab C § 1102.5(b). 
Ventress v. Japan Airlines (9th Cir. Haw. Apr. 24, 2007), 486 F.3d 1111, 2007 U.S. App. LEXIS 9289.

Terminated employee’s claim pursuant to Lab C § 1102.5 was barred by the federal enclave doctrine because the 
state law on which the claims were based were enacted after the federal government obtained jurisdiction of the 
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Naval Reservation on which the nuclear power plant at which the employee worked was located. Stiefel v. Bechtel 
Corp. (S.D. Cal. Apr. 10, 2007), 497 F. Supp. 2d 1138, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 26848.

In a case in which a state employee brought a whistleblowing claim against the Public Employees’ Retirement 
System, the employee, who did not file a petition for a writ of mandamus to challenge the State Personnel Board’s 
adverse findings, was collaterally estopped from relitigating those findings because the employee was provided with 
a quasi-judicial hearing sufficient to satisfy CCP § 1094.5, even though the board was not required to provide an 
evidentiary hearing. California Public Employees' Retirement System v. Superior Court (Cal. App. 3d Dist. Feb. 15, 
2008), 160 Cal. App. 4th 174, 72 Cal. Rptr. 3d 561, 2008 Cal. App. LEXIS 232, overruled in part, State Bd. of 
Chiropractic Examiners v. Superior Court (Cal. Feb. 26, 2009), 45 Cal. 4th 963, 89 Cal. Rptr. 3d 576, 201 P.3d 457, 
2009 Cal. LEXIS 1265.

Employee’s claim of violation of Lab C § 1102.5 failed to state a cause of action because the applicable statute of 
limitations was one year pursuant to CCP § 340 and the complaint was not filed until two years after the alleged 
retaliation. Fenters v. Chevron (E.D. Cal. Dec. 14, 2009), 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 115903.

A former police officer's claims under the state whistleblower protection statute, alleging that the City retaliated 
against him for criticizing “non-enforcement” policies with regard to laws applicable to construction sites, survived 
dismissal because he was no longer required to exhaust administrative remedies; Cal. Labor Code §§ 98.7 and 244 
applied retroactively because they clarified, not changed, existing law, and he stated a claim that was plausible on 
its face, Tobin v. City & County of San Francisco (N.D. Cal. June 16, 2015), 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 77992.

Given that the purpose of the licensing statutes and regulations governing the practice of medicine and nursing is to 
protect the public, that criminal sanctions may be imposed upon those who fail to practice nursing within the scope 
of his or her license, and that employers are precluded from retaliating against an employee for refusing to 
participate in activities that would result in a violation of a state statute or regulation, a nurse adequately identified a 
fundamental public policy on which to base her wrongful termination claim by alleging her employment was 
terminated for refusing to perform acts that were unlawful under B & P C § 2725, and the Board of Registered 
Nursing and the Medical Board of California’s guidelines. Nosal-Tabor v. Sharp Chula Vista Medical Center (Cal. 
App. 4th Dist. Aug. 3, 2015), 239 Cal. App. 4th 1224, 191 Cal. Rptr. 3d 651, 2015 Cal. App. LEXIS 748.

8. Exhaustion of Administrative Remedies

Employer’s motion to dismiss the employee’s allegations under Lab C § 1102.5 was granted because the employee 
failed to allege that he was engaged in a protected activity prior to his termination; however, the employee was 
granted leave to amend as it appeared that he might be able to allege that he produced documents to the Securities 
and Exchange Commission prior to his termination. Romaneck v. Deutsche Asset Mgmt. (N.D. Cal. Sept. 6, 2005), 
2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 33712.

Even if a state employee need not submit a Lab C § 1102.5, claim to the labor commissioner, he or she must 
submit the claim to California’s State Personnel Board (SPB) in order to pursue the damage remedies available 
under Gov C § 8547.8. The filing of the California Tort Claims Act has no bearing on the binding effect of the SPB 
finding as to issues actually adjudicated. State Bd. of Chiropractic Examiners v. Superior Court (Cal. App. 3d Dist. 
Feb. 28, 2007), 148 Cal. App. 4th 142, 55 Cal. Rptr. 3d 374, 2007 Cal. App. LEXIS 276, modified,  (Cal. App. 3d 
Dist. Mar. 29, 2007), 2007 Cal. App. LEXIS 466, review granted, depublished,  (Cal. June 27, 2007), 161 P.3d 1, 
2007 Cal. LEXIS 6811, review granted, depublished,  (Cal. June 27, 2007), 61 Cal. Rptr. 3d 459, 2007 Cal. LEXIS 
7214, rev'd, superseded,  (Cal. Feb. 26, 2009), 45 Cal. 4th 963, 89 Cal. Rptr. 3d 576, 201 P.3d 457, 2009 Cal. 
LEXIS 1265.

In a retaliation claim under the whistleblower statute, Lab C § 1102.5, a county employer waived an argument that 
an employee failed to exhaust administrative remedies because the employer failed to raise the exhaustion defense 
before trial. Mokler v. County of Orange (Cal. App. 4th Dist. Nov. 26, 2007), 157 Cal. App. 4th 121, 68 Cal. Rptr. 3d 
568, 2007 Cal. App. LEXIS 1933.
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Former employee failed to state a claim under Lab C § 1102.5 against a supervisor because the employee did not 
allege that she attempted to file a complaint with the Labor Commissioner, a prerequisite for such a claim and she 
failed to show that she fell within an exception to the exhaustion requirement. Cartwright v. Regents of the Univ. of 
Cal. (E.D. Cal. July 21, 2009), 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 62953.

Former police officer’s claim that a city retaliated against him for reporting wrongdoing by the city was barred 
because he failed to exhaust his judicial remedies, prior to filing suit, by seeking a writ of mandate challenging an 
arbitrator’s administrative decision recommending his termination. Eaton v. Siemens (E.D. Cal. Dec. 11, 2009), 
2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 115882, aff'd,  (9th Cir. Cal. May 4, 2011), 2011 U.S. App. LEXIS 9195, aff'd,  (9th Cir. Cal. 
July 12, 2011), 431 Fed. Appx. 539, 2011 U.S. App. LEXIS 14392.

Employee’s whistleblower claim under Lab C § 1102.5 was barred for failure to exhaust administrative remedies as 
provided in Lab C § 98.7. Ortiz v. Lopez (E.D. Cal. Feb. 1, 2010), 688 F. Supp. 2d 1072, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 
7800.

Irrigation district, as employer, was entitled to summary judgment on an employee’s whistleblower claim under Lab 
C § 1102.5 because the employee did not exhaust his administrative remedies; the employee was required to file a 
government tort claim under Gov C § 945.4, and he did not do so within the six-month time limit under Gov C § 
911.2. Tumbling v. Merced Irrigation Dist. (E.D. Cal. Sept. 27, 2010), 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 101404.

Because Lab C § 98.7 provided a former employee with an administrative remedy for a violation of Lab C § 
1102.5(c), the former employee was required to exhaust that remedy before filing her § 1102.5 claim in federal 
court. Ferretti v. Pfizer Inc. (N.D. Cal. Feb. 29, 2012), 855 F. Supp. 2d 1017, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 27214.

Exhaustion of administrative remedies is required prior to filing suit for retaliation under Lab C § 1102.5. Toth v. 
Guardian Indus. Corp. (E.D. Cal. Mar. 29, 2012), 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 44217.

Former supervisor failed to exhaust administrative remedies as required to pursue a retaliation claim under Lab C § 
1102.5 with regard to claims of sexual discrimination and harassment, since the administrative charge that the 
supervisor was terminated in retaliation for refusing to fire an employee based on discrimination did not extend to 
the totally different claims of harassment or discrimination against the supervisor. Toth v. Guardian Indus. Corp. 
(E.D. Cal. Mar. 29, 2012), 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 44217.

Former employee’s claim under Lab C § 1102.5(c) was dismissed where she conceded that she had not exhausted 
her administrative remedies, and she failed to allege circumstances that would have justified application of the 
futility or inadequate administrative proceedings exceptions. Ferretti v. Pfizer Inc. (N.D. Cal. Aug. 22, 2012), 2012 
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 119115.

Defendant’s motion to dismiss plaintiff’s claim for retaliation under Lab C § 1102.5 was granted because a plaintiff 
alleging a violation of Lab C § 1102.5 is required to allege exhaustion of administrative remedies with the Labor 
Commissioner before bringing suit. Brazill v. Cal. Northstate College of Pharm., LLC (E.D. Cal. Aug. 2, 2012), 2012 
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 108554.

Failure to exhaust the administrative remedy of filing a complaint with the California Labor Commissioner barred a 
former state employee’s action in the superior court asserting retaliatory discharge claims. MacDonald v. State of 
California (Cal. App. 3d Dist. Aug. 27, 2013), 219 Cal. App. 4th 67, 161 Cal. Rptr. 3d 520, 2013 Cal. App. LEXIS 
683, review denied, ordered not published,  (Cal. Nov. 26, 2013), 2013 Cal. LEXIS 10306.

Employee who alleged race discrimination against his agency employer was not required to file a charge with the 
Labor Commissioner to exhaust his remedies before bringing suit on his Lab C §§ 98.6 and 1102.5 claims. Pinder 
v. Empl. Dev. Dep't (E.D. Cal. Aug. 19, 2013), 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 118130.

Former firefighter’ claims failed because they did not exhaust their administrative remedies prior to commencing 
litigation. Oyarzo v. Tuolumne Fire Dist. (E.D. Cal. July 1, 2013), 955 F. Supp. 2d 1038, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 
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92221, aff'd in part, vacated in part,  (9th Cir. Cal. Dec. 28, 2015), 641 Fed. Appx. 700, 2015 U.S. App. LEXIS 
22718.

In a suit alleging employment retaliation, under Lab C § 98.7, a plaintiff is not required to file a complaint with the 
Labor Commissioner as a prerequisite to filing a claim. Howard v. Contra Costa County (N.D. Cal. Feb. 28, 2014), 
2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 26908.

In a retaliatory discharge case, the complaint was sufficient to allege that the employee exhausted the employer’s 
internal administrative remedies because it stated that the employee participated in an internal administrative 
process and used that process to object to the discipline, and that counsel was told there was no further 
administrative appeals process. Satyadi v. West Contra Costa Healthcare Dist. (Cal. App. 1st Dist. Dec. 31, 2014), 
232 Cal. App. 4th 1022, 182 Cal. Rptr. 3d 21, 2014 Cal. App. LEXIS 1186.

Filing a complaint with the Labor Commissioner was not required before an employee could bring a civil action 
alleging discharge in retaliation for whistleblowing because statutory amendments enacted after the case was filed 
merely clarified that administrative exhaustion was not required; the issue in applying the amendments was not one 
of retroactivity. Satyadi v. West Contra Costa Healthcare Dist. (Cal. App. 1st Dist. Dec. 31, 2014), 232 Cal. App. 4th 
1022, 182 Cal. Rptr. 3d 21, 2014 Cal. App. LEXIS 1186.

Lab C § 1102.5 requires exhaustion before filing a court action, and because the most serious of a former superior 
court employee’s accusations, the escalating criticism and punitive actions culminating in termination of her 
employment, were not the subject of the grievance, the filing of the grievance did not serve to exhaust the 
employee’s administrative remedies; the vast majority of the conduct detailed in the employee’s complaint took 
place after she filed her grievance, and was necessarily not the conduct addressed by the grievance procedure. 
Gallup v. Superior Court (Cal. App. 3d Dist. Mar. 30, 2015), 235 Cal. App. 4th 682, 185 Cal. Rptr. 3d 496, 2015 Cal. 
App. LEXIS 271, review denied, ordered not published,  (Cal. June 10, 2015), 2015 Cal. LEXIS 4253.

9. Arbitration

Employee’s retaliation claim under Lab C § 1102.5 was not precluded by the prior resolution of a labor grievance 
through binding arbitration under a memorandum of understanding (MOU) that made no reference to statutory 
claims. The arbitration of a labor grievance, conducted pursuant to the terms of a collective bargaining agreement, 
cannot have binding effect as against an employee’s claims for violation of statute, unless the agreement states 
explicitly that it will. Marcario v. County of Orange (Cal. App. 4th Dist. Sept. 19, 2007), 155 Cal. App. 4th 397, 65 
Cal. Rptr. 3d 903, 2007 Cal. App. LEXIS 1572.

In a former employee’s action alleging wrongful discharge, retaliation pursuant to Lab C § 1102.5(b), and religious 
discrimination under 42 U.S.C.S. § 2000e-2 and Gov C § 12940, the employer was entitled to stay the 
proceedings and compel arbitration pursuant to 9 U.S.C.S. §§ 2, 3, and 4 of the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C.S. 
§ 1 et seq.; although the arbitration agreement was procedurally unconscionable and the unilateral termination 
provision was substantively unconscionable, the agreement did not permeate with unconscionability for purposes of 
CC § 1670.5(a) because the discovery provisions were consistent with CCP § 1283.05 and most of the provisions 
contained the essential bilaterality of an employment arbitration agreement. Ramirez-Baker v. Beazer Homes, Inc. 
(E.D. Cal. June 20, 2008), 636 F. Supp. 2d 1008, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 83867.

10. Non-Discriminatory Reason

In this California’s Fair Employment and Housing Act and California Labor Code action, defendant was granted 
summary judgment because defendant provided a legitimate explanation for the adverse employment action—that 
plaintiff touched a member and then lied about it, violating company policies. Fay v. Costco Wholesale Corp. (C.D. 
Cal. Mar. 2, 2012), 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 27978, aff'd,  (9th Cir. Cal. Feb. 6, 2014), 554 Fed. Appx. 614, 2014 U.S. 
App. LEXIS 2265.
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Even if any of the disciplinary charges against a school district employee arose from his protected speech, the 
separate and extensive evidence of his wrongdoing amply justified his termination because he had displayed 
blatant insubordination to a newly-appointed female supervisor, had used a district computer for private purposes—
including storing pornography—in violation of district rules, and had retaliated against employees who had filed a 
prior sexual harassment claim against him. Thornbrough v. Western Placer Unified School Dist. (Cal. App. 3d Dist. 
Dec. 23, 2013), 223 Cal. App. 4th 169, 167 Cal. Rptr. 3d 24, 2013 Cal. App. LEXIS 1081.

11. Federal Preemption

Federal Airline Deregulation Act of 1978 (ADA) did not preempt plaintiff employee’s state-law whistle blower claims, 
which were brought pursuant to Lab C § 1102.5(b), since the claims were not “related to” a “service” for purposes 
of ADA preemption. The employee made safety reports months after the alleged events occurred, and the 
employee did nothing to ground a flight or otherwise interrupt service. Ventress v. Japan Airlines (9th Cir. Haw. Apr. 
30, 2010), 603 F.3d 676, 2010 U.S. App. LEXIS 8962.

Former employee failed to allege retaliation by the employer of the employee for reporting illegal and unethical 
conduct to the employee's direct supervisors, since the employee failed to identify any statute, rule, or regulation 
the employer's conduct allegedly violated. Thomas v. Starz Entm't LLC (C.D. Cal. Feb. 29, 2016), 2016 U.S. Dist. 
LEXIS 25472, in part,  (C.D. Cal. Apr. 5, 2017), 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 60808.

12. Pleading

Employee’s whistleblower retaliation claim under Lab C § 1102.5(b) was dismissed where he had not alleged that 
he had disclosed the employer’s purported illegal conduct to any government or law enforcement agency. 
Nordstrom v. U.S. Bank, N.A., Inc. (S.D. Cal. Oct. 27, 2011), 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 125216.

Former employee’s claim of wrongful termination in violation of public policy based on a violation of Lab C § 
1102.5(c) survived a motion to dismiss because, taking all the facts in the light most favorable to the employee, it 
was reasonable to infer that she refused to participate in employer’s clinical drug testing program because the 
program violated and would continue to violate several federal regulations. Ferretti v. Pfizer Inc. (N.D. Cal. Feb. 29, 
2012), 855 F. Supp. 2d 1017, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 27214.

Former temporary employee’s claim under Lab C § 1102.5(b) was dismissed where his complaint was more akin to 
the sort of internal personnel complaint courts repeatedly held to not be entitled to whistleblower protection, and he 
was protesting that an activity violated the city’s charter, which was not covered under Lab C § 1102.5. Turner v. 
City & County of San Francisco (N.D. Cal. Dec. 19, 2012), 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 179585, aff'd,  (9th Cir. Cal. June 
11, 2015), 788 F.3d 1206, 2015 U.S. App. LEXIS 9753, aff'd,  (9th Cir. Cal. June 11, 2015), 617 Fed. Appx. 674, 
2015 U.S. App. LEXIS 9788.

Defendant was not entitled to a motion to strike, because allegations of False Claims Act violations bore an 
important relationship to the claims in the action for retaliation. Vasile v. Flagship Fin. Group, LLC (E.D. Cal. Aug. 
16, 2013), 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 117301.

Claimants stated an adequate claim for relief, because the claimants alleged a firing for refusing to forge borrower 
signatures on mortgage loan applications. Vasile v. Flagship Fin. Group, LLC (E.D. Cal. Aug. 16, 2013), 2013 U.S. 
Dist. LEXIS 117301.

While bare, an employee’s factual allegations sufficiently indicated that he filed a complaint with his agency’s EEO 
office (a protected activity) based on unlawful discrimination and harassment, his employment was thereafter 
terminated, and he was terminated due to his prior complaints. He therefore properly alleged that he made a 
protected disclosure as required by Lab C § 1102.5. Pinder v. Empl. Dev. Dep't (E.D. Cal. Aug. 19, 2013), 2013 
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 118130.
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Employee had not pleaded, and could not plead, a viable whistleblower claim because he did not claim either that 
he reported his suspicions of unlawful activity to any governmental agency, or that he refused to violate the law. 
Rather, he alleged only that he complained to the employer itself about its foot-dragging and failure to approve his 
leave, but such an internal complaint does not trigger whistleblower protection under this statute. Rope v. Auto-
Chlor System of Washington, Inc. (Cal. App. 2d Dist. Oct. 16, 2013), 220 Cal. App. 4th 635, 163 Cal. Rptr. 3d 392, 
2013 Cal. App. LEXIS 832.

Where a former county transit district employee claimed that she was fired for repeatedly complaining to coworkers, 
superiors and outside authorities about accounting irregularities she suspected were taking place within the district, 
the employee’s claim of retaliation was dismissed because she failed to allege the specific rule, regulation or statute 
she reasonably believed had been violated, and the factual basis for her reasonable belief. Ling La v. San Mateo 
County Transit Dist. (N.D. Cal. Sept. 16, 2014), 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 131316, dismissed, in part, dismissed 
without prejudice,  (N.D. Cal. Nov. 25, 2014), 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 164894.

Former employee failed to state a claim for constructive discharge in light of her voluntary resignation because she 
did not plead facts sufficient to show that she was compelled to resign or that she conveyed any of her concerns to 
the employer. Connolly v. Remkes (N.D. Cal. Oct. 28, 2014), 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 153439.

13. Causal Link

Employer was granted summary judgment on an employee’s retaliation claim under Lab C § 1102.5 where the 
complaints filed with the Department of Fair Employment and Housing (DEFH) were submitted more than five 
months after the employee was terminated, and as a result, the employee could not establish a causal link between 
his DFEH complaints and his termination. Gutierrez v. Kaiser Found. Hosps., Inc. (N.D. Cal. Oct. 30, 2012), 2012 
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 155462.

In an action by an employee who was fired after alleging to law enforcement that other employees engaged in 
fraud, there was a triable issue as to whether the employee engaged in a protected activity, even though it was part 
of his job to report fraud. McVeigh v. Recology San Francisco (Cal. App. 1st Dist. Jan. 31, 2013), 213 Cal. App. 4th 
443, 152 Cal. Rptr. 3d 595, 2013 Cal. App. LEXIS 75.

In an action by an employee who was fired after alleging to law enforcement that other employees engaged in 
fraud, there was a triable issue as to causation because the employee declared that, just three months before he 
was terminated, his supervisor told him that he could be fired if he pressed on with his concern about possible 
fraud. McVeigh v. Recology San Francisco (Cal. App. 1st Dist. Jan. 31, 2013), 213 Cal. App. 4th 443, 152 Cal. Rptr. 
3d 595, 2013 Cal. App. LEXIS 75.

Reasonable finder of fact could conclude that there was a nexus between the employee’s reporting of cable theft 
and his alleged termination; a six-month period between the employee’s conduct and his termination was not such 
an unreasonably long period of time that the employee could not recover as a matter of law. Stoval v. Basin St. 
Props. (N.D. Cal. Nov. 12, 2013), 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 161265.

14. Particular Determinations

Even if a deputy sheriff was not the first employee to disclose alleged unlawful conduct, he was protected from 
retaliation, and there was sufficient evidence that the stated reason for his termination was pretextual; however, he 
could not recover damages for either backpay or loss of future earning capacity because he was medically disabled 
and unable to perform the duties of a deputy sheriff when he was terminated, and he failed to prove any loss of 
earnings caused by reputational injury. Hager v. County of Los Angeles (Cal. App. 2d Dist. Aug. 5, 2014), 228 Cal. 
App. 4th 1538, 176 Cal. Rptr. 3d 268, 2014 Cal. App. LEXIS 758.
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Claim of wrongful termination in violation of public policy was supported by the employee’s allegation that the 
employer, a daycare center, terminated her employment based on its mistaken belief that the employee had lodged 
a complaint with the Community Care Licensing Division of the California Department of Social Services, resulting 
in an unannounced inspection. Diego v. Pilgrim United Church of Christ (Cal. App. 4th Dist. Nov. 21, 2014), 231 
Cal. App. 4th 913, 180 Cal. Rptr. 3d 359, 2014 Cal. App. LEXIS 1058.

Former employee of a private university’s real estate department stated a claim for wrongful termination in violation 
of public policy by alleging that a supervisor accepted kickbacks for placing university tenants with a private 
landlord; the complaint sufficiently alleged that the employee had a reasonable basis to suspect commercial bribery, 
and that the employee’s report to the university served the public policy in deterring crime. Ferrick v. Santa Clara 
University (Cal. App. 6th Dist. Dec. 1, 2014), 231 Cal. App. 4th 1337, 181 Cal. Rptr. 3d 68, 2014 Cal. App. LEXIS 
1091.

Employee was properly awarded compensatory damages in her suit against her former employer where the 
employee had met all of the statutory elements of a retaliation claim because the jury found that: (1) the employee 
reported a workplace theft of her property to the police, and theft was a violation of the law; (2) the employee was 
subsequently terminated from her employment; and (3) the employee’s report to the police was a motivating reason 
for her termination. Cardenas v. M. Fanaian, D.D.S., Inc. (Cal. App. 5th Dist. Oct. 1, 2015), 240 Cal. App. 4th 1167, 
194 Cal. Rptr. 3d 1, 2015 Cal. App. LEXIS 872, review granted, depublished,  (Cal. Dec. 16, 2015), 195 Cal. Rptr. 
3d 789, 362 P.3d 431, 2015 Cal. LEXIS 10134.

Because a reasonable juror could find that a hospital employer had terminated a nurse employee for refusing to 
perform nurse-led stress testing conducted pursuant to the employer’s legally deficient procedures, a reasonable 
juror could also find that the employer had retaliated against the employee for refusing to participate in an activity 
that would result in a violation or noncompliance with a state statute or regulation. Accordingly, a trial court erred in 
granting judgment as a matter of law on the employee’s labor code retaliation claim. Nosal-Tabor v. Sharp Chula 
Vista Medical Center (Cal. App. 4th Dist. Aug. 3, 2015), 239 Cal. App. 4th 1224, 191 Cal. Rptr. 3d 651, 2015 Cal. 
App. LEXIS 748.

County's anti-SLAPP motion was properly denied as to a former employee's whistleblower claim where the county's 
act of placing the employee on administrative leave, with the intention of firing her, did not arise from the county's 
protected activity, but rather, was in retaliation for her act of revealing to the juvenile court the manipulation of 
evidence at the direction of her superiors in a dependency case, and where the employee established a probability 
of prevailing on the merits; she established an adverse employment action, as the administrative leave pending the 
investigation, which included two hearings, and the fact the decision had been made to terminate her employment, 
established the adverse nature of the administrative leave.Whitehall v. County of San Bernardino (Cal. App. 4th 
Dist. Nov. 15, 2017), 225 Cal. Rptr. 3d 321, 17 Cal. App. 5th 352, 2017 Cal. App. LEXIS 1007.

Notes to Unpublished Decisions

Notes to Decisions

1.Applicability

2.Administrative Remedies

3.Non-Discriminatory Reason

4.Federal Preemption

Notes to Decisions

1. Applicability
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Unpublished decision:  Grant of summary judgment in favor of employer with regard to employee’s retaliation claim 
was reversed because the employee established a prima facie case of retaliation under Lab C § 1102.5 because 
she engaged in protected activity when she made a complaint to the California Department of Fair Employment and 
Housing and at least some of the decision makers who terminated her were aware of her protected activity. 
Heinemann v. Computer Assocs. Int'l, Inc. (9th Cir. Cal. Mar. 21, 2006), 171 Fed. Appx. 704, 2006 U.S. App. LEXIS 
7165.

Unpublished decision:  City and a former police chief for the City’s police department properly were awarded 
summary judgment on a former employee’s claim under the California Whistleblower Statute, Lab C § 1102.5(b), 
because the employee failed to establish a causal relationship between an adverse employment action and her 
disclosure of the chief’s alleged unfair enforcement of discipline. The employee’s arrests and convictions were 
substantial evidence of a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for the adverse employment action. Golt v. City of 
Los Angeles (9th Cir. Cal. Dec. 22, 2006), 214 Fed. Appx. 704, 2006 U.S. App. LEXIS 31823.

Unpublished decision:  Public employee failed to establish that her speech was protected under the California 
Whistleblower Statute, Lab C § 1102.5(b), because the conduct that her speech disclosed, a police chief’s alleged 
unfair enforcement of discipline, did not violate any federal or state statute, rule, or regulation. Golt v. City of Los 
Angeles (9th Cir. Cal. Dec. 22, 2006), 214 Fed. Appx. 704, 2006 U.S. App. LEXIS 31823; Golt v. City of Los 
Angeles (9th Cir. Cal. Dec. 22, 2006), 214 Fed. Appx. 708, 2006 U.S. App. LEXIS 31824.

Unpublished decision:  City and a former police chief for the City’s police department properly were awarded 
summary judgment on a former employee’s claim under the California Whistleblower Statute, Lab C § 1102.5(b), 
because the employee failed to establish a causal relationship between her termination and her disclosure of the 
chief’s alleged unfair enforcement of discipline. The employee’s arrests and convictions were substantial evidence 
of a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for the adverse employment action. Golt v. City of Los Angeles (9th Cir. 
Cal. Dec. 22, 2006), 214 Fed. Appx. 704, 2006 U.S. App. LEXIS 31823; Golt v. City of Los Angeles (9th Cir. Cal. 
Dec. 22, 2006), 214 Fed. Appx. 708, 2006 U.S. App. LEXIS 31824.

2. Administrative Remedies

Unpublished decision:  District court’s grant of summary judgment for a fire district on the claims under Lab C § 
1102.5 was vacated as administrative exhaustion was not required to bring a claim under that statutory section. 
Oyarzo v. Turner (9th Cir. Cal. Dec. 28, 2015), 641 Fed. Appx. 700, 2015 U.S. App. LEXIS 22718.

Unpublished decision: In determining the propriety of a punitive damages award of $1.155 million, the court noted 
that it was significantly greater than the authorized $10,000 civil penalty, which suggested that the punitive 
damages award in the case was excessive; a single-digit ratio between punitive and compensatory damages would, 
however, comport with due process. Mitri v. Walgreen Co. (9th Cir. Cal. Sept. 16, 2016), 660 Fed. Appx. 528, 2016 
U.S. App. LEXIS 17014.

3. Non-Discriminatory Reason

Unpublished decision:  Plaintiff veteran’s Lab C § 1102.5(b) claim failed because defendant former employer 
established a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for terminating him, and the veteran did not show that the 
reason was pretextual. The U.S. Marshal Service ordered the employer, a subcontractor of the Service, to provide 
court security officers (CSOs), to permanently remove the employee from service as a CSO after it learned that the 
employee drank two “near beers” during work. Lawrence J. Marino & Mary Ann Marino Living Trust v. Akal Sec. Inc. 
(9th Cir. Cal. Apr. 28, 2010), 377 Fed. Appx. 683, 2010 U.S. App. LEXIS 8843.

4. Federal Preemption
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Unpublished decision:  Federal district court erred in determining that plaintiff’s claim under Lab C § 1102.5 was 
preempted by the federal Labor Management Relations Act; an inquiry into whether defendant employer retaliated 
against plaintiff after he engaged in whistleblowing activity did not depend on interpretation of the terms in a 
collective bargaining agreement. Brown v. Brotman Med. Ctr. (9th Cir. Cal. Apr. 25, 2014), 571 Fed. Appx. 572, 
2014 U.S. App. LEXIS 7800.

Opinion Notes

Attorney General’s Opinions

The statutory provisions relating to the disclosure of false claims actions, communications with the Legislature, and 
the filing of complaints or claims or the institution of proceedings pertaining to the rights of employment by 
employees of state and local public entities do not supersede the statutes and rules governing the attorney–client 
privilege. 84 Ops. Cal. Atty. Gen. 71.

HEADNOTES FROM CALIFORNIA COMPENSATION CASES

Civil Actions Against Employers—Fair Employment and Housing Act—Evidence:

Court of Appeal affirmed trial court’s grant of summary judgment in plaintiff’s favor in civil action against defendant 
city (plaintiff’s employer) after jury verdict on harassment claim against defendant and held that it was not error for 
trial court to admit evidence from plaintiff’s workers’ compensation proceedings, when Court of Appeal found that 
plaintiff/applicant worked for defendant city as building inspector from 1989 through 4/2001, claimed sexual 
harassment and intimidation from male building inspectors, filed claim with DFEH, filed civil action against 
defendant for harassment under Government Code and retaliation under Government and Labor Codes, and filed 
workers’ compensation claim 4/3/2001, that defendant accepted liability for workers’ compensation claim and began 
paying benefits, that, when defendant admitted that plaintiff’s claim was compensable, it was necessarily admitting 
that she had presented sufficient objective evidence of harassment and that harassment was predominant cause of 
injury, and that defendant’s acceptance of liability for workers’ compensation claim was inconsistent with its 
contentions in plaintiff’s civil action disputing causation of any alleged injury. Dufresne v. City of Hayward (Cal. App. 
1st Dist. 2009), 2009 Cal. Wrk. Comp. LEXIS 83 [See generally Hanna, Cal. Law of Emp. Inj. and Workers’ Comp. 
2d §§ 21.03[2][d], 21.07[7].]

Research References & Practice Aids

Cross References:

Burden of proof in action under § 1102.5: Lab C § 1102.6.

Jurisprudences

Cal Jur 3d (Rev) Employer and Employee § 74.

Law Review Articles:

Employee Disclosures to the Media: When is a “Source” a “Sourcerer”? 15 Hastings Comm. & Ent. L.J. 357.

Review of Selected 2003 California Legislation: Labor: Chapter 484: The Strongest Whistleblower Protection Law in 
the Nation – Did We Need It, and Can We Really Afford It? 35 McGeorge L. Rev. 569.
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Inevitable disclosure trade secret disputes between employers and employees: Dissolutions of concurrent property 
interests. 40 Stan. L. Rev. 519 (1988).

A wrongful termination primer for the 90's. 24 Cal Trial Law Forum 10.

Treatises:

Cal. Points & Authorities (Matthew Bender) ch 60 “Costs,” § 60.404.

Cal. Points & Authorities (Matthew Bender) ch 100 “Employer And Employee: Wrongful Termination And 
Discipline,” § 100.33.

Cal. Points & Authorities (Matthew Bender) ch 100 “Employer And Employee: Wrongful Termination And 
Discipline,” § 100.42.

Cal. Points & Authorities (Matthew Bender) ch 100 “Employer And Employee: Wrongful Termination And 
Discipline,” § 100.46.

Cal. Points & Authorities (Matthew Bender) ch 100 “Employer And Employee: Wrongful Termination And 
Discipline,” § 100.60.

Cal. Points & Authorities (Matthew Bender) ch 100 “Employer And Employee: Wrongful Termination And 
Discipline,” § 100.61A.

Cal. Points & Authorities (Matthew Bender) ch 195 “Public Administrative Law,” § 195.3.

Cal. Employment Law (Matthew Bender), § 20.12.

Cal. Employment Law (Matthew Bender), § 41.131.

Cal. Employment Law (Matthew Bender), § 60.02-60.04.

Cal. Employment Law (Matthew Bender), § 60.07.

Cal. Employment Law (Matthew Bender), § 90.10.

Cal. Torts (Matthew Bender), § 10.11.

Cal. Torts (Matthew Bender), § 40A.12.

Cal. Torts (Matthew Bender), § 40A.30.

Cal. Torts (Matthew Bender), § 40A.40.

Cal. Antitrust and Unfair Comp. Law, ch 11, The Labor Market, § 11.03, 11.03[B].

Cal. Legal Forms, (Matthew Bender) §§ 1C.33[1][b], 85.24[2][b], 85.24[2][c][vi].

3 Witkin Summary (10th ed) Agency and Employment §§ 252, 258, 284, 349.

Annotations:

What is “trade secret” so as to render actionable under state law its use or disclosure by former employee. 59 
ALR4th 641.
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What Constitutes Activity of Private-Sector Employee Protected Under State Whistleblower Protection Statute 
Covering Employee’s “Report,” “Disclosure,” “Notification,” or the Like of Wrongdoing — Nature of Activity 
Reported. 36 ALR6th 203.

What Constitutes Activity of Public or State Employee Protected Under State Whistleblower Protection Statute 
Covering Employee’s “Report,” “Disclosure,” “Notification,” or the Like of Wrongdoing — Nature of Activity 
Reported. 37 ALR6th 137.

ALR Fed

Preemption by Airline Deregulation Act, 49 U.S.C.A. § 41713(b)(1), of State Law Labor-Related Claim. 41 ALR Fed 
2d 215.

State Notes

Research References & Practice Aids

Hierarchy Notes:

Cal Lab Code Div. 2

Cal Lab Code Div. 2, Pt. 3, Ch. 5

Deering’s California Codes Annotated
Copyright © 2018 Matthew Bender & Company, Inc.
a member of the LexisNexis Group. All rights reserved.

End of Document

https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=analytical-materials&id=urn:contentItem:5MXN-GX80-00YK-33NY-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=analytical-materials&id=urn:contentItem:5RH0-8270-00YK-3187-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:4YF7-GNN1-NRF4-40MW-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=analytical-materials&id=urn:contentItem:5PRD-1W10-01X1-S3H8-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=analytical-materials&id=urn:contentItem:5PRD-1W10-01X1-S3H8-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:8N15-58P2-D6RV-H30F-00000-00&context=
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document?collection=statutes-legislation&id=urn:contentItem:5J6R-GYM1-66B9-849N-00000-00&context=

	Cal Lab Code § 1102.5
	Bookmark__a
	Bookmark__b
	Bookmark__c
	Bookmark__d
	Bookmark__e
	Bookmark__f
	Bookmark__g
	Bookmark__h
	Bookmark__i

	History
	Annotations
	Notes
	Bookmark_SN__Amendments_DOC
	Bookmark_SN__Note_DOC
	Bookmark_CN_1_Generally_DOC
	Bookmark_CN_2_Applicability_DOC
	Bookmark_CN_3_Administrative_Remedies_DO
	Bookmark_CN_4_Governmental_Immunity_DOC
	Bookmark_CN_5_Retroactivity_DOC
	Bookmark_CN_6_Construction_DOC
	Bookmark_CN_7_Construction_with_Other_La
	Bookmark_CN_8_Exhaustion_of_Administrati
	Bookmark_CN_9_Arbitration_DOC
	Bookmark_CN_10_NonDiscriminatory_Reason_
	Bookmark_CN_11_Federal_Preemption_DOC
	Bookmark_CN_12_Pleading_DOC
	Bookmark_CN_13_Causal_Link_DOC
	Bookmark_CN_14_Particular_Determinations
	Bookmark_CN__Notes_to_Decisions_DOC
	Bookmark_CN_1_Applicability_DOC
	Bookmark_CN_2_Administrative_Remedies_DO
	Bookmark_CN_3_NonDiscriminatory_Reason_D
	Bookmark_CN_4_Federal_Preemption_DOC

	Opinion Notes
	Research References & Practice Aids
	State Notes

